### **ARTICLE VI**

#### COMMISSIONER

6.1 Office of Commissioner, Election and Term of Office. The League shall employ a Commissioner selected by the Board of Governors. The Commissioner shall serve as the Chief Executive Officer of the League and shall be charged with protecting the integrity of the game of professional hockey and preserving public confidence in the League. The Board of Governors shall determine the term of office and compensation of the Commissioner. The Commissioner shall be elected by a majority of the Governors present and voting at a League meeting at which a quorum was present when it was convened.

6.2 *Qualifications*. The Commissioner shall be a person of unquestioned integrity and shall have no financial interest, direct or indirect, in any professional sport. The Governors shall determine the other qualifications for the office of Commissioner.

#### 6.3 Power and Duties.

- (a) General. Subject to the authority of the Board of Governors provided for in the Constitution and By-Laws and other governing documents of the League, the Commissioner shall have the responsibility for the general supervision and direction of all business and affairs of the League and shall have all such other powers as may be necessary or appropriate to fulfill his responsibilities. The Commissioner shall be responsible for the coordination and general supervision of policy matters that relate to property rights of the Member Clubs or that are other than in the normal course of operations of the League. The Commissioner's powers and duties shall include, but shall not be limited to, the powers specified in the Constitution and By-Laws and other governing documents, the powers exercised by, and duties assigned to, the League President prior to 1993, and all such other powers and duties as may be granted or assigned to the Commissioner by the Board of Governors. The Commissioner shall serve as the principal public spokesman for the League.
- (b) Dispute Resolution. The Commissioner shall have full and exclusive jurisdiction and authority to arbitrate and resolve:
  - (1) any dispute that involves two or more Member Clubs of the League or two or more holders of an ownership interest in a Member Club of the League;
  - (2) any dispute between or among players, coaches, or other employees of any Member Club or Clubs of the League (unless such dispute is unrelated to and outside the course and scope of the employment of the disputants);
  - (3) any dispute between any player or other employee designated by the Member Club and any Member Club or Clubs;
  - (4) any dispute between a player and any official of the League; and
  - (5) any dispute involving a Member Club or Clubs, or any players or employees of the League or any Member Club or Clubs, or any combination thereof, that in the opinion of the Commissioner is detrimental to the best interests of the League or professional hockey or involves or affects League policy.

In any case involving the deprivation of a Member Club's material property rights (other than rights to or interest in a player or other employee), an aggrieved Member Club may appeal the Commissioner's determination to the Board of Governors. The decision of the Commissioner shall be upheld unless three-fourths of the Governors shall vote to reverse it.

Except in such circumstances, the authority of the Commissioner to arbitrate disputes pursuant to this provision shall be binding to the same extent as if the parties had entered into a formal arbitration agreement and the decision of the Commissioner shall be final and binding on all parties and shall not be subject to any review. The Commissioner may elect not to arbitrate a dispute in any circumstances that he determines appropriate.

(c) Committees. The Commissioner from time to time may establish committees with such powers and duties as the Commissioner determines. The Commissioner shall appoint the members of each such committee and fix their terms of office. The Commissioner shall serve as an ex officio member of all League committees and may serve as chairman of any committee in his discretion. The Commissioner may at any time dissolve any committee.

Notwithstanding the preceding paragraph, the Commissioner shall name an Executive Committee, consisting of between eight and twelve members of the Board of Governors, including the Chairman of the Governors. The Executive Committee shall confer, either formally or informally, in advance of each meeting of the Board of Governors and at such other times as the Commissioner may designate. In addition, the Commissioner shall name up to six members of the Executive Committee to serve as a Finance/Audit Committee.

Nothing in this section is intended to abrogate the powers of the Board of Governors.

- (d) Interpretation of League Rules. The Commissioner shall have the authority to interpret, and from time to time establish policies and procedures regarding, the provisions of the Constitution, the By-Laws, and League rules and resolutions, and their application and enforcement. Any determination made by the Commissioner with respect to any such matter shall be final and binding and shall not be subject to any review.
- (e) Appointment of Staff. The Commissioner may, subject to the previously-approved budget, appoint such other officers or assistants as he, in his sole discretion, determines necessary or appropriate, and shall determine the duties, compensation, and term of office of such officers or assistants. He may recommend to the Board of Governors persons to fill the positions of President, Treasurer, and Secretary. In connection with their services to the League, officers and other employees of the League shall be entitled to indemnification to the same extent as if the League were a corporation incorporated in the state of New York.
- (f) Financial Matters. The Commissioner may, subject to the previously-approved budget, incur on behalf of the League any expense that he determines, in his sole discretion, necessary or appropriate to conduct the business and affairs of the League, including, but not limited to, the leasing of office space and the hiring of employees, legal counsel and other professional assistance. The Commissioner may also establish and maintain bank accounts and credit facilities on behalf of the League and approve the payment of all proper charges. The Commissioner may withhold revenues due to a Member Club (including revenues collected by the League as agent for that Member Club) that has failed to discharge its financial obligations to the League or to another Member Club.
- (g) Contracting Authority. The Commissioner may arrange for and negotiate on behalf of the League contracts with other persons, firms, leagues, or associations; provided,

however, that unless otherwise specifically authorized herein or in the By-Laws or by resolution, no contract involving a material commitment, including but not limited to collective bargaining agreements, television contracts and expenditures not in the budget which are individually in excess of \$100,000 or in the aggregate in excess of \$500,000 per year, unless such expenditures are approved by the Finance Committee, by the League or its Members shall be binding unless approved by the Board of Governors. No employment contract of a League office employee with a duration of more than two years will be effective without approval of the Board of Governors.

- (h) Scheduling. In each year, the Commissioner shall prepare and forward to the Member Clubs a proposed schedule of games for the upcoming season. Governors may forward comments on the proposed schedule to the Commissioner within ten days of its receipt. The Commissioner shall consider such comments and shall then issue the final schedule. Such schedule shall constitute the official League schedule and shall not require any consent or approval by the Member Clubs. In preparing the schedule, the Commissioner may require Member Clubs to furnish any information necessary to the preparation of the schedule. In addition, he shall solicit advice from the Clubs concerning special circumstances and shall take such circumstances into account to the extent he deems appropriate and in the best interests of the League. The Commissioner may change the date, time or playing site of any scheduled games if he determines that such a change would be in the best interest of the League or the teams involved.
- *(i) Officials.* The Commissioner shall be responsible for selecting and approving all game officials for all League games.
- (j) Disciplinary Powers.
  - (1) Whenever the Commissioner shall determine, based upon such information and reports as he may deem sufficient, that any person connected with the League or a Member Club has either violated the Constitution, the By-Laws, or any other governing rule or regulation of the League, or has been or is guilty of conduct (whether during or outside the playing season) detrimental to the League or the game of hockey, he shall have full and complete authority to discipline such person in any or all of the following respects:
    - (a) by expelling or suspending the person for a definite or indefinite period;
    - (b) by cancelling any contract or agreement that the person has with the League or with any Member Club;
    - (c) by imposing a fine on the person not exceeding One Million dollars (\$1,000,000) or such greater amount as may be prescribed by any League rule or By-Law; or
    - (d) if the conduct in question affects the competitive aspects of the game, by awarding or transferring players and/or draft choices and/or depriving the offending Member Club of draft choices.
  - (2) For purposes of this Section (*j*), the word "person" shall include a Member Club and any officer, stockholder or partner of a Member

Club, or anyone else holding an interest in any Member Club, and any player, coach, or other employee, officer, or director of the League or of any Member Club.

(3) In all cases involving player discipline and/or the integrity of the game of hockey and public confidence in the League, the Commissioner's determinations under this Section (j), shall be final and not subject to any review. In all other cases, the Commissioner's determinations under this Section (j), shall similarly be final, except that where the infraction would result in (a) expulsion from the League or a suspension of more than two years, or (b) imposition of a penalty provided for in subsection I(d), of this Section (j), an aggrieved party may appeal the Commissioner's determination to the full Board of Governors. The procedures set forth in Section 32.2 of the By-Laws shall govern any such appeal, but the Commissioner's determination may only be reversed by a vote of three-fourths of the Governors.

6.4 Indemnification. The Commissioner shall not be liable or accountable in damages or otherwise to the League or any Member Club for any loss or damage incurred by reason of any act or omission performed or omitted by the Commissioner in good faith either on behalf of the League or in furtherance of its interests, provided the Commissioner was not guilty of fraud or bad faith with respect to such act or omission.

If, as a result of or in connection with service to the League, the Commissioner becomes involved in any manner, or is threatened with involvement in any manner, in any threatened, pending or completed claim, action, suit or proceeding (collectively, a "Proceeding"), whether civil, criminal or investigative, the League shall indemnify and hold harmless the Commissioner against all expenses (including reasonable attorneys fees) incurred by him, and all judgments, fines and settlement amounts payable by him, in connection with the Proceeding. The right to indemnification shall include the right to receive payment, prior to final disposition of the Proceeding, of any attorneys fees and other expenses incurred in connection with the Proceeding. The Commissioner shall not be entitled to indemnification, however, with respect to (a) any Proceeding arising from his own wilful acts or omissions that are fraudulent or in bad faith, as determined by a final and nonappealable judgment, decision or order of a court of competent jurisdiction, or (b) the amount of any settlement entered into without the approval of the Board of Governors.